


































{V0120581.1  003846-028547 }

SINGLE STREAM RECYCLABLES PROCESSING AGREEMENT 

THIS STREAM RECYCLABLES PROCESSING AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is 

entered into this 30th day of March, 2020 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the Town of 

Southern Shores, (the “Town”), and  RDS of  Virginia, LLC, Tax ID number 47-4367116, a 

Virginia limited liability company, with principal offices located at 623 N Witchduck Rd, Suite 

108, Virginia Beach, Virginia (the “Company”), with reference to the following facts and 

circumstances: 

RECITALS: 

A.  The Town collects Material (as defined below) and is authorized by law to enter into 

agreements with private sector entities involving discarded or waste materials removed from the 

nonhazardous solid waste stream for recycling and processing as described herein. 

B.  The Town desires the Company to process and the Company desires to recycle and process 

recyclables from the Town that may be collected and delivered by or on behalf of the Town. 

Recyclables shall be delivered to and received by the Company at our Portsmouth processing 

facility located at 3325 Frederick Boulevard, Portsmouth Va. from the Town operations in 

accordance with this Agreement.  

C. Town or its designees shall be responsible for all transportation costs to get recyclables to the 

Company in accordance with this agreement.  

D. Town acknowledges Company may (but is not obligated to do so) establish a recycling in North 

Carolina and such processing facility would be closer to Town operations than the Portsmouth 

facility is. Should Company establish a closer facility in North Carolina then Town agrees to 



-2- 

deliver (or have delivered) material to such facility instead of the Companies Portsmouth facility 

under the same terms and conditions of this agreement.  

E.  The Town shall use the Company exclusively for Processing of Single Stream Material during 

the Initial Term of this Agreement and any Extension Term. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 

and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Company and the Town agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS

1.1. Definitions:  The following defined terms used in this Agreement shall have the

respective meanings set forth below:

“Agreement” shall mean this Recyclables Processing Agreement, including all 

exhibits hereto, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“Town” shall mean the Town of Southern Shores. 

"Town Site" shall mean the Town's property at (location) or the Transfer Station 

where recyclables are transferred before being brough to the Company.  

“Company” shall mean RDS of Virginia, LLC, a Virginia limited liability 

company. 

"Company Site" shall mean the Company's property at 3325 Frederick Boulevard, 

Portsmouth Va (unless and until Company established a recycling facility in North 

Carolina closer to the Town), which includes the MRF. 

“Environmental Liabilities” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8 of this 

Agreement. 



 -3- 

 “Force Majeure” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9 of this Agreement. 

 “Governmental Directive” shall mean any order, administrative decision, rule, 

regulation, law or other direction by or from any federal, state or local government, Town, 

agency or other body having regulatory authority over the Town, the Company or any 

portion of or activity conducted at the Town Site or the Company Site. 

“Hazardous Waste” shall mean any material or substance deemed to be harmful to 

human health or the environment by any law, rule, regulation or ordinance, or any material 

regulated as a toxic or hazardous waste or substance under any federal, state or local law, 

regulation, rule or ordinance, including, without limitation, any material or substances 

regulated pursuant to the federal Clean Air Act and regulations promulgated thereunder, 

and similar state environmental laws and regulations promulgated thereunder, the 

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as 

amended or the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, as amended, 

and regulations promulgated thereunder, and similar state environmental laws and 

regulations promulgated thereunder, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended, the 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, and regulations promulgated 

thereunder, and similar state environmental laws and regulations promulgated thereunder, 

the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, and regulations promulgated 

thereunder, and similar state environmental laws and regulations promulgated thereunder, 

or asbestos, asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls or petroleum 

products.  

“Marketable Recovered Material” means Recoverable Material that, after 

Processing at the Company Site, is sold on the open market using reasonable efforts.  



-4- 

Schedule 1, Table 1-1 describes Marketable Recovered Material, which schedule may be 

amended from time to time, with m u t u a l  approval from the Town and Company, 

to meet current market conditions. 

"Material" shall mean material that is defined below as Recyclable Material and 

which the Town intends to be delivered to the Company Site in accordance with this 

Agreement.  

“MRF” shall mean that certain materials recycling facility or facilities owned and 

operated by the Company and located at the Company Site. 

"Operating Month" shall mean every calendar month during the Term of this 

Agreement, beginning with March 2020, or the effective date of this agreement, which 

shall be the date both parties sign. 

“Permit” shall mean any permit, authorization, waiver, variance, license, approval 

or similar order of or from any federal, state or local government, Town, agency or any 

other body having regulatory Town over the Town, the Company, or activity conducted by 

the Town or the Company. 

"Person" shall mean an individual, a trust, an estate, or a domestic company, a 

foreign company, a professional company, a partnership, a limited partnership, a limited 

liability company, a foreign limited liability company, an unincorporated association, or 

another entity. 

“Point of Acceptance” shall mean the location on the Company Site where Material 

is delivered. 

"Processing" shall mean the process of separating a particular material from other 

material and processing it so that it may be used again as a new material. 



-5- 

“Processing Fee” shall mean the fee paid by the Town to the Company, or by the 

Company to the Town, for Single Stream Material delivered to the Company by the Town 

for processing, as set forth in the Process Fee/Rebate column of Table 2-2 attached hereto 

(with the negative numbers in such column representing rebate to be paid by the Company 

to the Town).   

"Recoverable Material" shall mean that portion of Material that is able to be 

Processed so that it may be used again as a new material, as more specifically described in 

Schedule 1 of this Agreement as it may be amended from time to time. 

"Receiving Time" shall mean the times that the Company Site is open for operation 

which shall be not less than the following:  8:00 am to 4:00 pm, Monday through Friday, 

inclusive, except for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving 

Day, and Christmas Day. 

"Rejected Material" shall mean all Unacceptable Material that is rejected by the 

Company. 

"Residue" shall mean that portion of Material that remains after Processing and 

designated for landfill disposal. 

"Scales" shall mean the scales at the Town's scale house located near the vehicle 

entrance at the Town Site. 

“Single Stream Material” shall mean the material set forth in Schedule 1 Table 1-1 

attached to this Agreement, as may be modified upon mutual agreement of the parties, 

which materials are received by the Town as mixed material loads and have not been 

separated by type of material before being received by the Town, which may include a 

certain amount of Residue, as defined herein.  



-6- 

“Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5. 

"Transfer Station/Recycling Facility" shall mean the Town's facility located at the 

Town's Site that is used as a transfer and relay point for solid waste or Material transferred 

to another facility for disposal or processing. 

 "Unacceptable Material" shall mean any Material which is not allowed under 

applicable law to be subject to Processing by the Company including any Hazardous Waste 

and any material the disposal or Processing of which would violate applicable federal or 

state laws, rules, regulations, permits or requirements. 

“Waste” or “Waste Material” means Material to be disposed of at a Landfill or 

otherwise properly disposed of, specifically including Residue and Rejected Material. 

“Waste Disposal Costs” means  all  direct  costs  incurred  by  the  Company  for 

the disposal of Waste Material. 

2. DELIVERY, PROCESSING, AND ANALYSIS OF MATERIAL

2.1 Processing Obligation.  The Company agrees to Process all Recoverable Material 

made available by the Town.  The Town is not obligated to supply any minimum amount 

of Material or Recoverable Material to Company under this Agreement and the Town 

however the Town shall use the Company exclusively for Processing of Recyclable 

Material during the Initial Term of this Agreement and any Extension Term.  The parties 

agree that title to and all risk of loss and liabilities of any kind arising from or associated 

with the Material shall pass to and be borne solely by the Company at the time such 

Material comes into the Company's possession at the Point of Acceptance.  

2.2 Commencement of Deliveries.  Delivery of Material to and acceptance of Material 

at the Company Site under this Agreement shall commence on March 30th, 2020.  



-7- 

2.3 Receipt of Material; Title; Nonacceptance. 

2.3.1 Material Delivery.  The Town shall, during the Term, cause to be delivered 

to the Company at the Point of Acceptance all Recyclable Material that is within 

the Town’s control or collected by Town contractors on behalf of the Town. Town 

shall designate Company as the recycling processing facility for any bids, 

proposals, solicitations or other Town work for the materials that the Company 

accepts for recycling.  

2.3.2 Material not Accepted.  The Company may refuse to accept Hazardous 

Waste or loads containing in excess of 12% of Material that (i) would constitute 

Residue or (ii) is Unacceptable Material.  Company shall notify the Town within 

two (2) hours of any such failure to accept, stating the date and the time of rejection 

and the reason for such failure to accept and Town will have the option to correct 

the problem before receiving any charge backs. 

2.4 Weighing Material; Records; Testing of Scales. 

2.4.1 Weighing Material. The Company and the Town shall each be responsible 

for operating and maintaining in good condition their respective truck scales and 

associated equipment. 

2.4.2 Records. The Town shall maintain accurate weigh scales records for the 

purposes of determining the total weight of Material leaving the Town Site and 

shall keep detailed daily records of the same.  Company shall provide a copy of 

this record each month to the Town for billing purposes. If Town has a dispute 

with any part of the monthly invoice Town shall pay the part of the invoice not in 

dispute and Company and Town will address concerns regarding such disputed 



-8- 

items. Invoices shall assume to be accepted by the Town and not in dispute within 

twenty one (21) days after receipt.  

2.5 Recoverable Material.  The Company shall achieve as high a  level of recovery 

of Recoverable Material from the stream of Material delivered to the Company's site as 

possible using the Company’s machinery installed and designed for this purpose.   

2.6  Removal.  If Unacceptable Material is delivered to the Company's site by or on 

behalf of the Town, the Company shall be responsible for promptly containing such 

material, and will promptly notify Town of the problem, giving Town an opportunity to 

correct the problem before receiving any chargebacks. Town shall have two (2) hours to 

notify Company of its intention to correct or not correct the problem, unless the Company 

agrees to a longer time period.  If Town intends to correct the problem Town shall have 24 

hours in which to do so, unless the Company agrees to a longer time period.  If Town 

decides not to correct the problem, Company will be responsible for removing, transporting 

and disposing of such Unacceptable Material.  Such containment, removal, transport and 

disposal shall be done in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations and the 

directions of any regulatory agency with jurisdiction. The Company will bill back the Town 

for removal, transport, and disposal at the commercial waste rate as established and then 

currently being charged by the Southeastern Public Service Authority (SPSA) for Non-

Contract Non-Municipal Customers PLUS $45 (Forty Five) Dollars per ton for handling 

and transportation. This rate can be found on the SPSA web site (SPSA.com) currently 

under Publication and Reports – Tipping Fees and is (as of July 1, 2019) currently $76 per 

ton. 



-9- 

2.7 Town Inspection of Company Site.  The Town Executive Director and any Town 

employee, agent and representative of the Town designated by the Town Executive 

Director shall be entitled to visit and inspect the Company Site on reasonable notice to the 

Company, which may be by electronic mail, and for purposes of this section 48 hours 

advance notice is agreed to constitute reasonable notice. 

2.8 If Company believes the average amount of Residue in one truckload of Material 

delivered to the Company is greater than 12% of such Material, then the Company may 

notify Town of the contamination and Town shall have the option of proceeding under 

section 2.6 – Removal.  If the Company believes the average amount of Residue in 

multiple truckloads over time is greater than 12% of such Material, then the Company 

may test the Residue percentage (at Company’s expense) in accordance with the Protocol 

(as defined below) for the purpose of instituting a charge.  If Residue is above 12% the 

Town will have the opportunity to clean up the Residue and have the option of having the 

Protocol test rerun by Company (limit one per month) at the Town’s expense (not to 

exceed $800 per test).  Once Residue is proved to be at 12% or lower through a Residue 

test the Residue charge will stop.  Not more than once every 12 months, the Company 

may perform a Residue analysis of incoming loads of Material to establish average 

percent by weight of the amount of Residue in such Material.  The Town will approve or 

amend the proposed protocol (the “Protocol”) prior to performance of the Residue 

analysis, provided, however, that any such amendments shall be commercially reasonable 

and shall be binding on the Company.  An acceptable reference for this Protocol is the 

following standard:  ASTM D5231-92 (2008) Standard Test Method for Determination of 

the Composition of Unprocessed Municipal Solid Waste.  One or more Town 



-10- 

representatives shall be entitled to observe any residue analysis process which occurs 

under this Section 2.8 of this Agreement. This section is not intended to require the 

Company to perform a residue test unless the Company is charging the Town for 

accepting Material nor shall Company be required to reject occasional individual loads 

that may contain contamination in excess of 12%.  However, should Company accept 

individual loads with more than 12% contamination without rejecting, this shall not be 

taken as a new specification and Company may reject loads in excess of 12% 

contamination in the future. 

3. SINGLE STREAM RECYCLABLES PROCESSING COSTS AND PAYMENT.

3.1 The Town agrees to send payments to Company within 30 days of receipt of a

billing invoice for services properly and completely rendered under this Service

Agreement, in accordance with Schedule 1-2 attached hereto.  Company agrees to send

the Town such an invoice no more than once per month.

3.2  Company's billing invoice will not be considered by the Town to be

 complete and payable if it fails to include specific information and documentation on the 

total tonnage of   Material processed by Company under this Agreement for each month 

or other applicable invoice period. Should Company's billing invoice not include the 

information required by the Town the Town will notify the Company within 5 working 

days of the Town's receipt of such invoice of specific deficiencies, and for purposes of 

this Section  3.2 such notice may be made by phone call, fax and/or e-mail to the 

Company.  Should Town not so notify Company then Company’s invoice shall be 

considered for payment in in accordance with Town's standard procedures.  



-11- 

3.3             The Town agrees to send payment to the Company so that the Company receives 

such payment no less than once every 31 days, for total material received each month by 

the Company (one payment per month), in accordance with Schedule 2 attached hereto. 

4. TAXES

4.1 Taxes in General.  The Company shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes and 

assessments arising from or related to its actions under this Agreement or imposed with 

respect to the Material, including, but not limited to, any leasehold real estate taxes, 

personal property taxes, business license taxes, excise taxes and sales and use taxes. 

4.2 Income Tax.  Each party shall be responsible for its respective federal, state and 

local taxes based upon or measured by its income, and all franchise or other taxes based 

upon its corporate existence or its corporate right to transact business. 

5. TERM.

5.1 Initial Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall be for 5 (five) years and shall 

commence on the date of this Agreement and shall continue until March 30, 2025, (the 

“Initial Term”) unless terminated earlier per this agreement. 

5.2 Extension Term.  The Town shall have and is hereby granted, in accordance with 

applicable law, the option to extend the term of this Agreement for additional five year 

periods beyond the expiration of the Initial Term (the "Extension Term"), such option to 

be mutually agreed to and exercised in writing at least 6 months before the expiration of 

the Initial Term.  

6. DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES.



-12- 

6.1 Disclaimer of Warranties. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE IMPLIED 

WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILTY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 

PURPOSE AND ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO 

GOODS OR MATERIALS ARE EXCLUDED FROM THIS TRANSACTION.   

7. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, CERTAIN COMPANY

OBLIGATIONS.

7.1 Representations and Warranties of the Company.  As a material inducement to the

Town to enter into this Agreement, the Company represents and warrants that as of the date

hereof:

7.1.1 Organization.  The Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good 

standing under the laws of Virginia, is qualified to do business in the 

Commonwealth of Virginia and in North Carolina and has all requisite corporate 

power and corporate Town to execute and perform its obligations under this 

Agreement. 

7.1.2 Town.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement have 

been approved and authorized by all necessary corporate action of the Company. 

7.1.3 No Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement 

will not constitute a violation or breach of the charter, certificate of incorporation, 

certificate of formation, articles of organization, operating agreement, bylaws or 

similar document of the Company or of any provision of any material contract, 

permit, license, agreement or other obligation to which the Company is a party or 

by which the Company or any of its material assets are bound, or any writ, 

injunction, decree, or applicable law to which the Company or any of its assets are 



-13- 

subject.  The Company is fully qualified and able to perform all of the work 

described in this Agreement. 

7.1.4 No Litigation.  There are no pending lawsuits or orders pertaining to or 

affecting the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder, nor, to the 

Company’s knowledge, have any such lawsuits or orders been threatened. 

7.1.5 No Collusion.  This agreement has been made without collusion or fraud by 

the Company or its representatives.  The Company has not offered or received 

kickbacks or inducement from any office, supplier, manufacturer or subcontractor 

in connection with this Agreement, and it has not conferred on any public employee 

having any official responsibility for this transaction, any payment, loan, 

subscription, advance, deposit of money or anything of more than nominal value, 

present or promised, unless something of substantially equal or greater value was 

exchanged. 

7.1.6 Company Inspection of Town Site.  The Company has inspected the Town 

Site and all other surrounding locations and property and is familiar with and 

accepts the conditions thereof. The Company or its representatives shall be entitled 

to reinspect Town Site on reasonable notice to the Company, which may be by 

electronic mail, and for purposes of this section 48 hours advance notice is agreed 

to constitute reasonable notice. 

7.1.7 Payment of subcontractors.  The Company agrees that if it employs any 

subcontractor for the provision of any goods or services under this Agreement, the 

Company will make payment to such subcontractors as follows: 

 (a) Within twenty (20) days after receipt of any amounts paid to the Company under 
this Agreement, (i) pay any subcontractor for its proportionate share of the total 



-14- 

payment received from the Town attributable to the work under this Agreement 
performed by such subcontractor, or (ii) notify the Town and the subcontractor, in 
writing, of its intention to withhold all or a part of the subcontractor’s payment 
and the reason therefor; 

(b) Provide its federal employer identification number or social security number, as 
applicable, before any payment is made to the Company under this Agreement; 
and 

(c) Pay interest at the legal rate or such other rate as may be agreed to in writing by 
the subcontractor and the Company on all amounts owed by the Company that 
remain unpaid after twenty (20) days following receipt by the Company of 
payment from the Town for work performed by the subcontractor under this 
Agreement, except for amounts withheld pursuant to subparagraph a. above.  The 
Company’s obligation to pay such interest shall be the Company’s sole obligation 
and shall not be an obligation of the Town. 

(d) Include in its contracts with any and all subcontractors the requirements of 
subsections (a), (b), and (c) above. 

7.1.8  Company Standard of Care  The Company shall, at its sole cost and expense, 

conduct all of its actions under this Agreement in accordance with industry 

standards, in a proper, workmanlike and prudent manner, taking into 

account any special needs or requirements of the Town, and in accordance 

with all applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules 

and regulations (whether now existing or later enacted) in all material 

respects, including but not limited to applicable occupational, health and 

safety laws and regulations and any federal, state or local laws, statutes, 

ordinances, rules and regulations relating to the Processing, transportation, 

recycling or disposal of solid waste and Material.  The Company agrees that 

it shall solely bear all costs, risks and liabilities connected with, related to 

or resulting from all required Permits and permissions related to its rights 

and responsibilities under this Agreement, and the failure of the Company 



-15- 

to obtain or cause the issuance of any such Permits and permissions.  The 

Company shall develop and implement internal procedures provide for 

visual inspection of each load of Material delivered to the Company's site. 

Any suspicious material will be set aside and the Company will be required 

to remove such Unacceptable Material from the Company Site and properly 

dispose of the same. 

7.2 Laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Company will comply with the 

general terms and conditions set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, and with the 

applicable laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. If Company establishes a 

Recycling Facility in the State of North Carolina then Company will comply with 

the general terms and conditions set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, and with 

the applicable laws of the State of North Carolina. 

7.3 Company Good Standing.  The Company agrees to remain in good standing and 

qualified to do business within the Commonwealth of Virginia for the Term of this 

Agreement. 

7.4 Representations and Warranties of the Town.  As a material inducement to the 

Company to enter this Agreement, the Town represents and warrants that as of the 

date hereof: 

7.4.1  Town.  The Town has all requisite power and Town to execute and perform 

its obligations under this Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance of 

this Agreement have been approved and authorized by all necessary action of the 

Town. 



-16- 

7.4.2  No Conflict.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement 

will not constitute a violation or breach of the charter of the Town or of any 

provision of any material contract, permit, license, agreement, or other obligation 

to which the Town is a party or by which the Town or any of its material assets are 

subject. 

7.4.3  No Litigation of Adverse Rights.  There are no pending or threatened lawsuits 

or orders pertaining to or affecting the performance by it of its obligations 

hereunder. 

7.4.4   Governance. All persons making up the governing body of the Town are 

the duly elected or appointed incumbents in their positions and hold such positions 

in good standing in accordance with all relevant federal, state and local laws, 

ordinances or other regulations with which the Town is obligated to comply. 

7.4.5   Term.  The term of this Agreement does not extend beyond any applicable 

limitation imposed by all relevant federal, state and local laws, ordinances or other 

regulations with which the Town is obligated to comply or other relevant 

constitutional, organic or other governing documents and applicable law. 

8. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

8.1 General Indemnification

8.1.1 To the extent allowed by applicable law, each party shall indemnify and 

hold the other party and its successors and assigns harmless from and against all 

liabilities, damages, losses, costs and expenses suffered or paid as a result of any 

and all claims, demands, suits, penalties, causes of action, proceedings, judgments, 

Governmental Directives, administrative and judicial orders and liabilities 



 -17- 

assessed, incurred and sustained by or against the Town or Company and its 

successors, assigns, employees, contractors and agents with respect to or arising 

out of any breach by that party of its warranties, representations, covenants or 

agreements hereunder. 

8.1.2 To the extent allowed by applicable law, each party  shall indemnify, defend 

and hold harmless the other party  and its affiliates and the  employees, officers, 

directors and agents from  and against all liability, claims, suits, losses, damages, 

costs and demands on account of personal injury, including death of any person, or 

property damage, sustained by any person or entity arising out of or connected with 

the performance of this Agreement where such injury, death or damage is caused 

or alleged to have been caused, in whole or in part, by the acts or omissions of that 

party or its subcontractors or their respective employees, officers, directors and 

agents.  

8.2 Environmental Hazards. 

8.2.1 For the purpose of this Section 8.2, the term “Environmental Liabilities” 

means all damages, fines, costs, losses, penalties, liabilities and expenses 

(including, but not limited to, reasonable settlement costs, attorney's fees, costs of 

investigation, characterization or remediation, or court costs) arising out of 

demands, proceedings, judgments, directives, claims, suits, causes of action, 

awards of damages (including natural resource damages), orders and decrees 

(including cease and desist, compliance and clean-up orders, remedial actions or 

corrective or preventative actions, whether sought or issued by judicial or 

administrative bodies or through public or private action), either at law or in equity 



-18- 

(including strict liability), arising or alleged to have arisen from the presence or 

existence in, on, under or about the Site or any adjoining property (including, 

without limitation, the surface or ground water on or under any such property) of 

any Hazardous Waste (as defined below), the emission of any harmful material, 

hazardous air pollutant or Hazardous Waste into the atmosphere, or any 

environmental condition which poses a substantial present or threatened hazard to 

human health or the environment, or which is subject to regulation under any 

federal, state or local environmental law, regulation, rule or ordinance, whether 

such substance or condition exists or is discovered before or after the date of this 

Agreement. 

8.2.2 To the extent allowed by applicable law, each party  shall defend, indemnify 

and hold harmless the other party  and its affiliates and each of their respective 

officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors and subcontractors from and 

against any and all Environmental Liabilities, including personal injury of any type 

to any person (including any employee or agent of the other party or its 

subcontractors) or damage of any type to any property (including, without 

limitation, the expense of clean-up or other corrective or preventative action at or 

remediation of the Company Site or the Town Site or lands or water adjacent 

thereto) arising or alleged to have arisen by reason of any act or failure to act of 

that party or its employees, agents and representatives.  

8.3 Failure to Defend Action.  Should the Town or the Company be entitled to 

indemnification under Sections 8.2.1 or 8.2.2 hereof as a result of a claim by a third 



-19- 

party, and the Company or the Town fails to assume the defense of such claim, the 

Town or the Company shall, at the expense of the other party, contest or settle such 

claim.  No such contest need be made, and settlement or full payment of any such 

claim may be made (with the other party remaining obligated to indemnify the 

Town or the Company under Sections 8.2.1 or 8.2.2 hereof), if in the written 

opinion of the Town’s or the Company’s counsel, such claim is meritorious. 

8.4 Survival of Indemnity.  The provisions of this Section 8 shall survive completion 

of the services hereunder or termination, cancellation, or expiration of this 

Agreement, and such provisions shall apply to the full extent permitted by law. 

8.5 Insurance.  At all times during the Term, the Company shall secure and maintain in 

effect a comprehensive automobile liability insurance policy including coverage 

for non-owned and hired vehicles in an amount of not less than One Million Dollars 

($1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) in the 

aggregate, a broad form comprehensive coverage or commercial general liability 

policy or policies of public liability insurance including contractual liability 

coverage in an amount of not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per 

occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) in the aggregate, and a policy of 

worker’s compensation/ employer’s liability insurance in an amount required by 

Title 65.2 of the Code, which shall provide coverage for third-party liabilities.  

Company’s insurance policies shall name the Town as an additional insured. 

Certificates of insurance evidencing the required coverage shall be provided to the 

Town before the Town commences delivery of Material to the Company Site under 

this Agreement.  All policies of insurance required herein shall be written in form, 



 -20- 

and by insurance companies licensed to conduct the business of insurance in 

Virginia and shall carry the provision that the insurance will not be cancelled or 

materially modified without thirty days (30) prior written notice to the Town. 

9. FORCE MAJEURE 

9.1 Definition.  “Force Majeure” shall mean any cause or causes which wholly or partly 

prevent or delay the performance of obligations arising under this Agreement and 

which are not reasonably within the control of the nonperforming party, and shall 

include, without limitation, an act of God, nuclear emergency, explosion, fire, 

epidemic, landslide, lightning, earthquake, public health emergency, flood or 

similar cataclysmic occurrence, an act of the public enemy, war, blockage, 

embargo, insurrection, riot, civil disturbance, equipment breakdown, act of 

terrorism, strike, labor dispute, lockout or other labor disturbance or the lack of 

market for collected and processed recyclable materials. 

9.2 Burden of Proof.  The burden of proof as to whether an event or Force Majeure has 

occurred shall be upon the party claiming an event of Force Majeure.  

9.3 Effect of Force Majeure.  If either party is rendered wholly or partially unable to 

perform its obligations under this Agreement because of a Force Majeure event, 

that party shall be excused from whatever performance is affected by the Force 

Majeure event to the extent so affected, provided that:  

9.3.1 The nonperforming party, a soon as possible after the occurrence of the 

inability to perform due to a Force Majeure event, provides written notice to the 

other party of the particulars of the occurrence, including an estimation of its 

expected duration and probable impact on the performance of its obligations 



-21- 

hereunder, and continues to furnish timely regular reports with respect thereto 

during the period of Force Majeure; 

9.3.2 The nonperforming party shall exercise all reasonable efforts to continue to 

perform its obligations hereunder and to remedy its inability to so perform; 

9.3.3 The nonperforming party shall provide the other party with prompt notice 

of the cessation of the event of Force Majeure giving rise to the excuse from 

performance; and 

9.3.4 No obligation of either party that arose prior to the occurrence of the event 

of Force Majeure shall be excused as a result of such occurrence. 

10. DEFAULT

10.1 The Company’s Default.  The Company shall be in default hereunder in the event 

that the Company (a) shall fail to pay any sums due the Town hereunder on or 

before the due date for such payment; (b) shall fail to perform any material 

obligation under this Agreement, and such failure continues for a period of thirty 

(30) days after written notice of such nonperformance but if the Company 

commences within thirty (30) days after such notice and thereafter proceeds in good 

faith to make efforts to cure such failure, the Company shall be in default only if 

such failure is not cured within such longer period as may be reasonably necessary 

to cure the same; (c) shall be adjudicated a bankrupt;  (d) shall file or have filed 

against it a petition in bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceedings under the 

bankruptcy laws of the United States; (e) shall have a receiver, permanent or 

temporary, appointed by a court of competent Town for it or on its behalf; (f) shall 

request the appointment of a receiver; (g) shall make a general assignment for the 



-22- 

benefit of creditors; (h) shall have its bank accounts, property or receivables 

attached and such attachment proceedings are not dismissed  within a ninety (90) 

day period; or (i) shall dissolve or liquidate.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 

Company shall not be in default as a result of or for following a Governmental 

Directive, and the Company shall have no liability whatsoever to the Town as a 

result of or for following, a Governmental Directive. 

The Town’s Default.  The Town shall be in default hereunder in the event that the 

Town (a) shall fail to perform any material obligation under this Agreement, and 

such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice of such 

nonperformance but if the Town commences within thirty (30) days after such 

notice and thereafter proceeds in good faith to make efforts to cure such failure, the 

Town shall be in default only if such failure is not cured within such longer period 

as may be reasonably necessary to cure the same; (b) shall file or have filed against 

it a petition in bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceedings under the 

bankruptcy laws of the United States; (c) shall have a receiver, permanent or 

temporary, appointed by a court of competent Town for it or on its behalf; (d) shall 

request the appointment of a receiver; (e) shall make a general assignment for the 

benefit of creditors; or (f) shall have its bank accounts, property or receivables 

attached and such attachment proceedings are not dismissed within a ninety (90) 

day period.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Town shall not be in default as a 

result of or for following a Governmental Directive, and the Town have no liability 

whatsoever to the Company as a result of or for following, a Governmental 

Directive. 



-23- 

11. TERMINATION; OTHER REMEDIES

11.1 Termination by the Town.  The Town may terminate this Agreement by giving

written notice to the Company upon the occurrence of an event of default by the 

Company specified in Section 10.1.   

11.2 Termination by the Company.  The Company may terminate this Agreement by 

giving written notice to the Town (i) upon the occurrence of an event of default of 

the Town specified in Section 10.2 

11.3 Other Remedies.  Termination of this Agreement by either party pursuant to this 

Section 11 or any payment made under this Agreement shall not preclude any party 

from pursuing any additional available remedies against the other party at law or in 

equity for breach or default by such party under this Agreement and termination of 

this Agreement shall not be a prerequisite or precondition to pursuing any such 

remedies. Such remedies shall include, but shall not be limited to, a decree in favor 

of the non-breaching party compelling specific performance by the other party or 

the restraint by injunction of any actual or threatened breach of any material 

obligation of the other party under this Agreement.   

12. ASSIGNMENT BY COMPANY AND THE TOWN

12.1 Neither party may assign or transfer its rights and obligations under this Agreement

except with the express written consent of the other party, such consent shall not be 

unreasonably withheld, as long as the person or entity to whom an assignment is 

made shall agree to the terms and conditions stated herein this agreement.  



-24- 

12.2 The provisions of this Agreement and the respective rights and obligations of the 

Company and the Town hereunder shall be binding upon, and shall inure to the 

benefit of, their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

13. COOPERATION AND INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS.

13.1 The Company and the Town (to the extent permissible by law) shall cooperate with

each other at all times during the term of this Agreement in carrying out their duties 

and exercising their rights hereunder, facilitating the performance of obligations 

hereunder and efficiently operating their facilities. Without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing, the Company and the Town shall consult with each other on a 

regular basis concerning any problems that each may be having in performing its 

obligations hereunder, and possible solutions for such problems. 

13.2 Records of the Company (including all writings, recordings, and data stored by any 

means, whether physical, electronic, digital or otherwise) related to this Agreement 

shall be subject to Town review, audit and/or reproduction and shall be open to 

inspection by the Town or any designated Town representative or service provider 

(including engineers, accountants and attorneys) during normal working hours or 

at such times as are mutually agreed upon by the parties, to the extent necessary to 

adequately permit evaluation and verification of any payments or claims submitted 

to or by the Town pursuant to this Agreement, provided however, the Town shall 

not be permitted to  reproduce any records of the Company that are reasonably 

considered to be confidential or proprietary or  be protected by the attorney-client 

privilege.  Records of the amount of Material processed under this Agreement, 

regarding funds received by the  Company for Marketable Recovered Material or 



-25- 

otherwise relevant to the Company's obligations to the Town under this Agreement 

are agreed to be confidential, proprietary or protected by the attorney-client 

privilege for purposes of this Agreement.  The Company shall maintain its books 

and records related to the performance of this Agreement in accordance with the 

following minimum requirements: (a)  the Company shall maintain all documents 

and records which demonstrate performance under this Agreement for a minimum 

period of two (2) years, or for any longer period required by law, from the date of 

termination or completion of this Agreement and (b) any records or documents 

required to be maintained pursuant to this Agreement shall be made available for 

inspection or audit, at any time, during regular business hours, upon written request 

by the Town at the Company’s address indicated for receipt of notices in this 

Agreement. Such documents shall be returned to the Company upon completion of 

any audit or inspection.  

14. MISCELLANEOUS

14.1 Notices and Payments.  Any notice, request, demand, statement or payment

provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and, except as otherwise provided 

herein, shall be sent to the parties hereto at the following addresses: 

the Company: 

RDS of Virginia, LLC 
623 N Witchduck Road 
Suite 108 
Virginia Beach, VA 23462 
Attn: Joe Benedetto 
Telephone: (757) 454-5793 

with a copy to: 



-26- 

Todd Preti 
MPO 
2901 South Lynnhaven Road 
Suite 120 
Virginia Beach, VA 23452 

the Town: 

(Address) 

with a copy to: 

(Attorney address if applicable) 

Such notices, etc. shall be deemed to have been given and received upon receipt as 

evidenced by a U.S. Postal Service receipt for Certified Mail or evidence of delivery 

by a private delivery service such as FedEx or UPS.  Either party may change the 

address to which notices, etc. are to be sent by written notice to the other party. 

14.2 Complete Agreement.  This Agreement is intended by the parties to constitute a 

final, complete and exclusive expression of their agreement on the subject matter 

hereof, and shall not be changed, modified, discharged or extended, except by 

subsequent amendment in writing signed by both parties.   

14.3 Waiver.  The waiver by either the Company or the Town of any failure on the part 

of the other party to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement shall not 

be construed as a waiver of any future or continuing failure or failures, whether 

similar or dissimilar thereto. 

14.4 Applicable Law; Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed as to all matters 

whether of validity, interpretations, obligations, performance or otherwise 

exclusively by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and all questions arising 

with respect thereto shall be determined in accordance with such laws.  Regardless 



-27- 

of where actually delivered and accepted, this Agreement shall be deemed to have 

been delivered and accepted by the parties in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Any 

and all suits for any claims or for any and every breach or dispute arising out of this 

Agreement shall be brought or maintained in the appropriate court of competent 

jurisdiction in the City of Virginia Beach, Virginia or in the Federal District Court 

for the Eastern District of Virginia. 

14.5 Attorneys Fees.  In the event that either party brings an action to enforce the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement or relating to this Agreement or to declare its 

rights hereunder or for specific performance or injunctive relief, the prevailing 

party in such action, trial, or appeal shall be entitled to have its reasonable attorney's 

fees and costs, as fixed by the court, to be paid by the losing party. 

14.6 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute 

one and the same instrument. 

14.7 Partial Invalidity. If any term or provision of this Agreement, or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstance, becomes invalid or is found to be 

unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such term or 

provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held 

unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each other term and provision of 

this Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

14.8 No Partnership, Joint Venture or Third Party Liability.  This Agreement shall not 

be interpreted or construed to create the relationship of principal and agent, an 

association, joint venture, or partnership between the parties or to impose any 



-28- 

partnership obligation or liability upon either party, and this Agreement shall not 

be construed as being for the benefit of third parties for any purpose, including, 

without limitation, establishment of any type of duty, standard of care, or liability 

with respect to third parties.  Neither party shall have any right, power or Town to 

enter in any agreement or undertaking for, or act on behalf or, or to act as of be an 

agent or representative of, or to otherwise bind, the other party, each party being an 

independent Company. 

14.9 Captions.  The captions of the various sections and subsections of this 

Agreement are for convenience and reference only and shall not limit or define any 

of the terms and provisions hereof. 

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]



-29- 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands as of this ____ day of June, 
2019. 

TOWN 

By:  _________________________  

Name: _______________________ 

Title: _________________________ 

RDS OF VIRGINIA, LLC 

By:  __________________________  

Name: Joseph A Benedetto III 

Title: President 



-30- 

SCHEDULE 1 

RECOVERABLE AND MARKETABLE RECOVERED MATERIAL STANDARDS 

1. Recoverable Material

Recoverable Material shall be those materials specified in Table 1-1.  The Company is 

encouraged to accept and recover additional materials where this can result in reducing the 

Waste disposed of by the Town.   The Company and the Town may mutually agree to modify the 

Recoverable Material list in Table 1-1 based upon prevailing market conditions in an effort to 

maximize Marketable Recovered Material Revenues for the project.   Any revisions to Table 1-1 

shall be documented as an amendment to this Schedule 1. 

Table 1-1 
Recoverable Material 

Commodity 
Category Recoverable Material 

Fiber 
Cardboard (OCC), newspaper, magazines, catalogs, 
glossy inserts & pamphlets, cereal boxes, detergent, 
gift and snack boxes (Boxboard), printer paper, junk 
mail, catalogs, telephone books,  copy paper and all 

other office paper without wax liners 

Glass Glass food & beverage containers (brown, clear or 
green) Household Glass Only 

Plastics PET (#1) containers, HDPE (#2) containers (natural 
& pigmented) – Household Plastic Only 

Metals Aluminum food & beverage containers, tin/steel 
cans, no larger than 5” by 12”. No other types of 

metal are accepted.  Household Metals Only. 

Clean Separate 
Cardboard (OCC #11) 

Clean Cardboard with less than 2% contamination 
collected and brought to the RDS facility. 



-31- 

Table 1-2: Processing Fees/Rebates 

Cardboard (Cardboard ONLY collected separately) 

Clean Cardboard – Clean Cardboard with less than 2% contamination collected and brought to 
the RDS facility. Rebate paid based on the ISRI (Yellow Sheet) Southeast High Side for OCC 
Grade #11 less $55 dollars a ton processing fee. This can be a pay or a charge.  

Single Stream with Glass (Fiber, Glass, Plastics, Metals all collected together) 

RDS can offer a FIXED PRICE for the term of the agreement (and any renewals) of a charge of 
$57.50 dollars per ton of single stream recyclable material that includes glass. This pricing is 
based on RDS assuming market risk should the price of the commodities drop below the $94 / 
ton processing fee RDS usually charges.  

Single Stream with Glass - Fixed Processing Charge of $57.50 per ton* 

Single Stream with NO Glass (Fiber, Plastics, Metal collected together – NO GLASS) 

RDS can offer a FIXED PRICE for the term of the agreement (and any renewals) of a charge of 
$49.00 dollars per ton of single stream recyclable material that includes glass. This pricing is 
based on RDS assuming market risk should the price of the commodities drop below the $94 / 
ton processing fee RDS usually charges.  

Single Stream with Glass - Fixed Processing Charge of $49.00 per ton* 

NOTES: 
* This number changes annually on July 1, beginning July 1, 2021, on a percentage basis to reflect the
percentage change in the CPI for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) South Area, All Items. 



 AGENDA ITEM 6.B PAY PLAN & POSITION CLASSIFICATION STUDY 

The pay study was previously distributed to Council at the February 18th Workshop meeting. 

A copy of the plan can be review in the packet from February 18th: https://www.southernshores-

nc.gov/wp-content/uploads/minutes-agendas-newsletters/Meeting-Packet_2020-02-18.pdf 

Please let me know if you need another hard copy printed. 

https://www.southernshores-nc.gov/wp-content/uploads/minutes-agendas-newsletters/Meeting-Packet_2020-02-18.pdf
https://www.southernshores-nc.gov/wp-content/uploads/minutes-agendas-newsletters/Meeting-Packet_2020-02-18.pdf


BLANK



Town of Southern Shores, NC $13,974,200 Project
Beach Nourishment Financial Model Version 5a

Option 1
Uses: Sources: Cost of Issuance:
Project 13,974,200$  Borrowed Funds 7,037,100$    Bond Counsel
Cost of Issuance 100,000$       County Contributed 7,037,100$    Bank Counsel

Other -$   LGC
Total: 14,074,200$  Total: 14,074,200$  FA

100,000$       

PLEDGED FUNDS REPAYMENT FUNDS

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
County 

Interlocal Total
County 

Interlocal Town Raised Total

2019 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2019 -$   
2020 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2020 -$   
2021 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2021 -$   
2022 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2022 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    
2023 918,986$   968,641$   428,944$       2,316,571$    2023 428,944$   1,224,775$    1,653,719$    
2024 918,986$   968,641$   379,684$       2,267,312$    2024 379,684$   1,224,775$    1,604,459$    
2025 918,986$   968,641$   330,425$       2,218,052$    2025 330,425$   1,224,775$    1,555,199$    
2026 918,986$   968,641$   281,165$       2,168,792$    2026 281,165$   1,224,775$    1,505,939$    
2027 918,986$   968,641$   231,905$       2,119,533$    2027 231,905$   1,224,775$    1,456,680$    
2028 918,986$   968,641$   -$   1,887,627$    2028 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    

Coverage Calculations

Fiscal 
Year Principal

(3%)
Interest

Total Debt 
Service

Total 
Revenue Surplus/Deficit

FY Ending 
Total

Beach Fund 
Balance*

Repayment
Coverage

Pledged 
Coverage 

Repayment 
Coverage 

(w/FB)
2019 -$   -$   -$   -$   
2020 -$   -$   -$   -$  
2021 -$   -$   -$   -$  
2022 -$   1,224,775$    1,224,775$    1,224,775$    0.00 0.00 0.00
2023 1,407,420$   246,299$   1,653,719$   1,653,719$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.40 1.74
2024 1,407,420$   197,039$   1,604,459$   1,604,459$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.41 1.76
2025 1,407,420$   147,779$   1,555,199$   1,555,199$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.43 1.79
2026 1,407,420$    98,519$   1,505,939$   1,505,939$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.44 1.81
2027 1,407,420$    49,260$   1,456,680$   1,456,680$   -$   1,224,775$    
2028 -$               -$   -$   1,224,775$    1,224,775$    2,449,549$    

7,037,100$   738,896$   7,775,996$   

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores
Beach Nourishment Projects - Issuance April 2022 Term: 5 years Project Costs

Interest Rate: 3.50% Permitting/Design 435,000$      
Estimated Numbers (1-14-20 from Engineers) Construction 11,758,000$ 

Soft/Monitoring 510,800$      
Contingency 1,270,400$   

7,037,100$   Total: 13,974,200$ 

Principal Interest Debt Service
County 

Contributed
Town 

Contributed
2022 Par Amount: 14,074,200$ 
2023 1,407,420$   246,299$      1,653,719$   428,944$      1,224,775$   
2024 1,407,420$   197,039$      1,604,459$   379,684$      1,224,775$   Dare Issue: 7,037,100$   
2025 1,407,420$   147,779$      1,555,199$   330,425$      1,224,775$   SS Issue: 7,037,100$   
2026 1,407,420$   98,519$        1,505,939$   281,165$      1,224,775$   
2027 1,407,420$   49,260$        1,456,680$   231,905$      1,224,775$   
2028 Southern Shores - FY20 Valuation

Penny 7.82¢ Generates
Totals: 7,037,100$   738,896$      7,775,996$   1,652,123$   6,123,873$   156,621$               1,224,775$   

Town Project - 2022



Town of Southern Shores, NC $13,974,200 Project
Beach Nourishment Financial Model Version 5a

Town Raised Revenues 7.82¢= 1,224,775$    

MSD-1 MSD-2 MSD-3
Commerical 

District Town Wide Total Total Value 1¢
% of 

Project # of ¢ Needed

2022 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-1 292,514,359$        29,251$        55% 23.03
2023 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-2 97,658,980$          9,766$          9% 11.29
2024 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-3 198,932,775$        19,893$        11% 6.77
2025 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Commercial District 36,122,183$          3,612$          0% 0.00
2026 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Town Wide 1,566,207,926$     156,621$      25% 1.96
2027 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    100%
2028 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2029 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Value Discounts
2030 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Collection Rate 99.65%
2031 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Reval Appeals 5.00%
2032 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2033 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2034 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores, NC $13,974,200 Project
Beach Nourishment Financial Model Version 5a

5 Year Averages of Revenues

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
Land Transfer 

Tax
Utility 

Franchise

2015 862,727$       953,313$       241,077$       
2016 894,212$       948,488$       236,759$       
2017 923,481$       926,873$       222,408$       
2018 964,512$       1,014,531$    248,575$       
2019 950,000$       1,000,000$    225,000$       

5yr Avg: 918,986$       968,641$       234,764$       -$               2,122,391$    All Revenues

1,203,405$    All Revenues Except Sales Tax

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores, NC $16,685,800 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5b

Option 3
Uses: Sources: Cost of Issuance:
Project 16,685,800$  Borrowed Funds 8,392,900$    Bond Counsel
Cost of Issuance 100,000$       County Contributed 8,392,900$    Bank Counsel

Other -$   LGC
Total: 16,785,800$  Total: 16,785,800$  FA

100,000$       

PLEDGED FUNDS REPAYMENT FUNDS

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
County 

Interlocal Total
County 

Interlocal Town Raised Total

2019 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2019 -$   
2020 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2020 -$   
2021 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2021 -$   
2022 918,986$   968,641$   1,887,627$    2022 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    
2023 918,986$   968,641$   747,557$       2,635,184$    2023 747,557$   1,224,775$    1,972,332$    
2024 918,986$   968,641$   688,807$       2,576,434$    2024 688,807$   1,224,775$    1,913,581$    
2025 918,986$   968,641$   630,056$       2,517,684$    2025 630,056$   1,224,775$    1,854,831$    
2026 918,986$   968,641$   571,306$       2,458,933$    2026 571,306$   1,224,775$    1,796,081$    
2027 918,986$   968,641$   512,556$       2,400,183$    2027 512,556$   1,224,775$    1,737,330$    
2028 918,986$   968,641$   -$   1,887,627$    2028 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    

Coverage Calculations

Fiscal 
Year Principal

(3%)
Interest

Total Debt 
Service

Total 
Revenue Surplus/Deficit

FY Ending 
Total

Beach Fund 
Balance*

Repayment
Coverage

Pledged 
Coverage 

Repayment 
Coverage 

(w/FB)
2019 -$   -$   -$   -$   
2020 -$   -$   -$   -$  
2021 -$   -$   -$   -$  
2022 -$   1,224,775$    1,224,775$    1,224,775$    0.00 0.00 0.00
2023 1,678,580$   293,752$   1,972,332$   1,972,332$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.34 1.62
2024 1,678,580$   235,001$   1,913,581$   1,913,581$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.35 1.64
2025 1,678,580$   176,251$   1,854,831$   1,854,831$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.36 1.66
2026 1,678,580$   117,501$   1,796,081$   1,796,081$   -$   1,224,775$    1.00 1.37 1.68
2027 1,678,580$    58,750$   1,737,330$   1,737,330$   -$   1,224,775$    
2028 -$   -$   -$   1,224,775$    1,224,775$    2,449,549$    

8,392,900$   881,255$   9,274,155$   

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores
Beach Nourishment Projects - Issuance April 2022 Term: 5 years Project Costs

Interest Rate: 3.50% Permitting/Design 435,000$      
Estimated Numbers (1-14-20 from Engineers) Construction 14,146,000$ 

Soft/Monitoring 587,900$      
Contingency 1,516,900$   

8,392,900$   Total: 16,685,800$ 

Principal Interest Debt Service
County 

Contributed
Town 

Contributed
2022 Par Amount: 16,785,800$ 
2023 1,678,580$   293,752$      1,972,332$   747,557$      1,224,775$   
2024 1,678,580$   235,001$      1,913,581$   688,807$      1,224,775$   Dare Issue: 8,392,900$   
2025 1,678,580$   176,251$      1,854,831$   630,056$      1,224,775$   SS Issue: 8,392,900$   
2026 1,678,580$   117,501$      1,796,081$   571,306$      1,224,775$   
2027 1,678,580$   58,750$        1,737,330$   512,556$      1,224,775$   

2028 Southern Shores - FY20 Valuation
Penny 7.82¢ Generates

Totals: 8,392,900$   881,255$      9,274,155$   3,150,282$   6,123,873$   156,621$               1,224,775$   

Town Project - 2022



Town of Southern Shores, NC $16,685,800 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5b

Town Raised Revenues 7.82¢= 1,224,775$    

MSD-1 MSD-2 MSD-3
Commerical 

District Town Wide Total Total Value 1¢
% of 

Project # of ¢ Needed

2022 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-1 292,514,359$        29,251$        55% 23.03
2023 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-2 97,658,980$          9,766$          9% 11.29
2024 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-3 198,932,775$        19,893$        11% 6.77
2025 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Commercial District 36,122,183$          3,612$          0% 0.00
2026 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Town Wide 1,566,207,926$     156,621$      25% 1.96
2027 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    100%
2028 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2029 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Value Discounts
2030 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Collection Rate 99.65%
2031 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Reval Appeals 5.00%
2032 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2033 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2034 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores, NC $16,685,800 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5b

5 Year Averages of Revenues

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
Land Transfer 

Tax
Utility 

Franchise

2015 862,727$       953,313$       241,077$       
2016 894,212$       948,488$       236,759$       
2017 923,481$       926,873$       222,408$       
2018 964,512$       1,014,531$    248,575$       
2019 950,000$       1,000,000$    225,000$       

5yr Avg: 918,986$       968,641$       234,764$       -$               2,122,391$    All Revenues

1,203,405$    All Revenues Except Sales Tax

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores, NC $14,755,600 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5c

Option 4
Uses: Sources: Cost of Issuance:
Project 14,755,600$  Borrowed Funds 7,427,800$    Bond Counsel
Cost of Issuance 100,000$       County Contributed 7,427,800$    Bank Counsel

Other -$               LGC
Total: 14,855,600$  Total: 14,855,600$  FA

100,000$       

PLEDGED FUNDS REPAYMENT FUNDS

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
County 

Interlocal Total
County 

Interlocal Town Raised Total

2019 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2019 -$               
2020 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2020 -$               
2021 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2021 -$               
2022 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2022 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    
2023 918,986$       968,641$       520,758$       2,408,386$    2023 520,758$       1,224,775$    1,745,533$    
2024 918,986$       968,641$       468,764$       2,356,391$    2024 468,764$       1,224,775$    1,693,538$    
2025 918,986$       968,641$       416,769$       2,304,397$    2025 416,769$       1,224,775$    1,641,544$    
2026 918,986$       968,641$       364,775$       2,252,402$    2026 364,775$       1,224,775$    1,589,549$    
2027 918,986$       968,641$       312,780$       2,200,407$    2027 312,780$       1,224,775$    1,537,555$    
2028 918,986$       968,641$       -$               1,887,627$    2028 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    

Coverage Calculations

Fiscal 
Year Principal

(3%)
Interest

Total Debt 
Service

Total 
Revenue Surplus/Deficit

FY Ending 
Total

Beach Fund 
Balance*

Repayment
Coverage

Pledged 
Coverage 

Repayment 
Coverage 

(w/FB)
2019 -$               -$               -$                   -$               
2020 -$               -$               -$                   -$               
2021 -$               -$               -$                   -$               
2022 -$               1,224,775$    1,224,775$    1,224,775$    0.00 0.00 0.00
2023 1,485,560$    259,973$       1,745,533$    1,745,533$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.38 1.70
2024 1,485,560$    207,978$       1,693,538$    1,693,538$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.39 1.72
2025 1,485,560$    155,984$       1,641,544$    1,641,544$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.40 1.75
2026 1,485,560$    103,989$       1,589,549$    1,589,549$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.42 1.77
2027 1,485,560$    51,995$         1,537,555$    1,537,555$    -$                   1,224,775$    
2028 -$               -$               -$               1,224,775$    1,224,775$    2,449,549$    

7,427,800$    779,919$       8,207,719$    

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores
Beach Nourishment Projects - Issuance April 2022 Term: 5 years Project Costs

Interest Rate: 3.50% Permitting/Design 435,000$      
Estimated Numbers (1-14-20 from Engineers) Construction 12,505,000$ 

Soft/Monitoring 474,200$      
Contingency 1,341,400$   

7,427,800$   Total: 14,755,600$ 

Principal Interest Debt Service
County 

Contributed
Town 

Contributed
2022 Par Amount: 14,855,600$ 
2023 1,485,560$   259,973$      1,745,533$   520,758$      1,224,775$   
2024 1,485,560$   207,978$      1,693,538$   468,764$      1,224,775$   Dare Issue: 7,427,800$   
2025 1,485,560$   155,984$      1,641,544$   416,769$      1,224,775$   SS Issue: 7,427,800$   
2026 1,485,560$   103,989$      1,589,549$   364,775$      1,224,775$   
2027 1,485,560$   51,995$        1,537,555$   312,780$      1,224,775$   

2028 Southern Shores - FY20 Valuation
Penny 7.82¢ Generates

Totals: 7,427,800$   779,919$      8,207,719$   2,083,846$   6,123,873$   156,621$               1,224,775$   

Town Project - 2022



Town of Southern Shores, NC $14,755,600 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5c

Town Raised Revenues 7.82¢= 1,224,775$    

MSD-1 MSD-2 MSD-3
Commerical 

District Town Wide Total Total Value 1¢
% of 

Project # of ¢ Needed

2022 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-1 292,514,359$        29,251$        55% 23.03
2023 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-2 97,658,980$          9,766$          9% 11.29
2024 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-3 198,932,775$        19,893$        11% 6.77
2025 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Commercial District 36,122,183$          3,612$          0% 0.00
2026 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Town Wide 1,566,207,926$     156,621$      25% 1.96
2027 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    100%
2028 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2029 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Value Discounts
2030 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Collection Rate 99.65%
2031 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Reval Appeals 5.00%
2032 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2033 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2034 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores, NC $14,755,600 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5c

5 Year Averages of Revenues

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
Land Transfer 

Tax
Utility 

Franchise

2015 862,727$       953,313$       241,077$       
2016 894,212$       948,488$       236,759$       
2017 923,481$       926,873$       222,408$       
2018 964,512$       1,014,531$    248,575$       
2019 950,000$       1,000,000$    225,000$       

5yr Avg: 918,986$       968,641$       234,764$       -$               2,122,391$    All Revenues

1,203,405$    All Revenues Except Sales Tax

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores, NC $16,196,500 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5d

Option 5
Uses: Sources: Cost of Issuance:
Project 16,196,500$  Borrowed Funds 8,148,250$    Bond Counsel
Cost of Issuance 100,000$       County Contributed 8,148,250$    Bank Counsel

Other -$               LGC
Total: 16,296,500$  Total: 16,296,500$  FA

100,000$       

PLEDGED FUNDS REPAYMENT FUNDS

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
County 

Interlocal Total
County 

Interlocal Town Raised Total

2019 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2019 -$               
2020 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2020 -$               
2021 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2021 -$               
2022 918,986$       968,641$       1,887,627$    2022 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    
2023 918,986$       968,641$       690,064$       2,577,692$    2023 690,064$       1,224,775$    1,914,839$    
2024 918,986$       968,641$       633,026$       2,520,654$    2024 633,026$       1,224,775$    1,857,801$    
2025 918,986$       968,641$       575,989$       2,463,616$    2025 575,989$       1,224,775$    1,800,763$    
2026 918,986$       968,641$       518,951$       2,406,578$    2026 518,951$       1,224,775$    1,743,726$    
2027 918,986$       968,641$       461,913$       2,349,541$    2027 461,913$       1,224,775$    1,686,688$    
2028 918,986$       968,641$       -$               1,887,627$    2028 1,224,775$    1,224,775$    

Coverage Calculations

Fiscal 
Year Principal

(3%)
Interest

Total Debt 
Service

Total 
Revenue Surplus/Deficit

FY Ending 
Total

Beach Fund 
Balance*

Repayment
Coverage

Pledged 
Coverage 

Repayment 
Coverage 

(w/FB)
2019 -$               -$               -$                   -$               
2020 -$               -$               -$                   -$               
2021 -$               -$               -$                   -$               
2022 -$               1,224,775$    1,224,775$    1,224,775$    0.00 0.00 0.00
2023 1,629,650$    285,189$       1,914,839$    1,914,839$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.35 1.64
2024 1,629,650$    228,151$       1,857,801$    1,857,801$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.36 1.66
2025 1,629,650$    171,113$       1,800,763$    1,800,763$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.37 1.68
2026 1,629,650$    114,076$       1,743,726$    1,743,726$    -$                   1,224,775$    1.00 1.38 1.70
2027 1,629,650$    57,038$         1,686,688$    1,686,688$    -$                   1,224,775$    
2028 -$               -$               -$               1,224,775$    1,224,775$    2,449,549$    

8,148,250$    855,566$       9,003,816$    

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores
Beach Nourishment Projects - Issuance April 2022 Term: 5 years Project Costs

Interest Rate: 3.50% Permitting/Design 435,000$      
Estimated Numbers (1-14-20 from Engineers) Construction 13,783,000$ 

Soft/Monitoring 506,100$      
Contingency 1,472,400$   

8,148,250$   Total: 16,196,500$ 

Principal Interest Debt Service
County 

Contributed
Town 

Contributed
2022 Par Amount: 16,296,500$ 
2023 1,629,650$   285,189$      1,914,839$   690,064$      1,224,775$   
2024 1,629,650$   228,151$      1,857,801$   633,026$      1,224,775$   Dare Issue: 8,148,250$   
2025 1,629,650$   171,113$      1,800,763$   575,989$      1,224,775$   SS Issue: 8,148,250$   
2026 1,629,650$   114,076$      1,743,726$   518,951$      1,224,775$   
2027 1,629,650$   57,038$        1,686,688$   461,913$      1,224,775$   

2028 Southern Shores - FY20 Valuation
Penny 7.82¢ Generates

Totals: 8,148,250$   855,566$      9,003,816$   2,879,943$   6,123,873$   156,621$               1,224,775$   

Town Project - 2022



Town of Southern Shores, NC $16,196,500 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5d

Town Raised Revenues 7.82¢= 1,224,775$    

MSD-1 MSD-2 MSD-3
Commerical 

District Town Wide Total Total Value 1¢
% of 

Project # of ¢ Needed

2022 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-1 292,514,359$        29,251$        55% 23.03
2023 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-2 97,658,980$          9,766$          9% 11.29
2024 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    MSD-3 198,932,775$        19,893$        11% 6.77
2025 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Commercial District 36,122,183$          3,612$          0% 0.00
2026 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Town Wide 1,566,207,926$     156,621$      25% 1.96
2027 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    100%
2028 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2029 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Value Discounts
2030 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Collection Rate 99.65%
2031 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    Reval Appeals 5.00%
2032 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2033 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    
2034 673,626$       110,230$       134,725$       -$               306,194$       1,224,775$    

April 1, 2020



Town of Southern Shores, NC $16,196,500 Project
Special Obligation Bond for Beach Nourishment Version 5d

5 Year Averages of Revenues

Sales Tax
Occupancy 

Tax
Land Transfer 

Tax
Utility 

Franchise

2015 862,727$       953,313$       241,077$       
2016 894,212$       948,488$       236,759$       
2017 923,481$       926,873$       222,408$       
2018 964,512$       1,014,531$    248,575$       
2019 950,000$       1,000,000$    225,000$       

5yr Avg: 918,986$       968,641$       234,764$       -$               2,122,391$    All Revenues

1,203,405$    All Revenues Except Sales Tax

April 1, 2020





Town-Wide GF Revenues % of % of
Town Increase Appropriated MSD General Fund Revenue MSD Notes

Kill Devil Hills 0.3 0.33 8% 92% *only 1 MSD was established

Nags Head 0 17.5 25% 75% 2 MSD's established

Duck 0 about 200,000 MSD A-0.148 20% 51% Paid by MSD A MSD A- all project area
MSD B 0.315 29% Paid by MSD B MSD B- oceanfront only

Kitty Hawk 0.2 0.4 of tax rate dedicated to beach nourishment 0.12











BLANK





BLANK









BLANK



















BLANK


















	April 21 2020 MEETING PACKET.pdf
	Cash Flow & Pledged Funds Southern Shores v5a - Option 1.pdf
	Cash Flow
	2022 Project
	Town Raised Revenues
	Historical Pledged Revenues

	Cash Flow & Pledged Funds Southern Shores v5b - Option 3.pdf
	Cash Flow
	2022 Project
	Town Raised Revenues
	Historical Pledged Revenues

	Cash Flow & Pledged Funds Southern Shores v5c - Option 4.pdf
	Cash Flow
	2022 Project
	Town Raised Revenues
	Historical Pledged Revenues

	Cash Flow & Pledged Funds Southern Shores v5d - Option 5.pdf
	Cash Flow
	2022 Project
	Town Raised Revenues
	Historical Pledged Revenues

	Dare County MSD's.pdf
	Sheet1

	Dare County MSD's.pdf
	Sheet1

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page




